Cambridge

# Bat responses to climate change: a systematic review

Francesca Festa<sup>1</sup>, Leonardo Ancillotto<sup>2</sup>, Luca Santini<sup>3</sup>, Michela Pacifici<sup>3</sup>, Ricardo Rocha<sup>4,5,6</sup>, Nia Toshkova<sup>7,8</sup>, Francisco Amorim<sup>4,5,6</sup>, Ana Benítez-López<sup>9,10</sup>, Adi Domer<sup>11</sup>, Daniela Hamidović<sup>12,13</sup>, Stephanie Kramer-Schadt<sup>14,15</sup> Fiona Mathews<sup>16</sup>, Viktoriia Radchuk<sup>14</sup>, Hugo Rebelo<sup>4,5,6</sup>, Ireneusz Ruczynski<sup>17</sup>, Estelle Solem<sup>14</sup>, Asaf Tsoar<sup>18</sup>, Danilo Russo<sup>2,\*</sup> <sup>(D)</sup> and Orly Razgour<sup>19</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Laboratory of Emerging Viral Zoonoses, Research and Innovation Department, Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale delle Venezie, 35020, Legnaro, Italv

<sup>2</sup> Wildlife Research Unit, Dipartimento di Agraria, Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II, via Università, 100, 80055, Portici, Napoli, Italy

<sup>3</sup>Department of Biology and Biotechnologies "Charles Darwin", Sapienza University of Rome, Viale dell'Università, 32, Rome, 00185, Italy

<sup>4</sup>CIBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, InBIO Laboratório Associado, Universidade do Porto, 4485-661, Vairão, Portugal

<sup>5</sup>CIBIO, Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos, InBIO Laboratório Associado, Instituto Superior de Agronomia, Universidade de Lisboa, 1349-017, Lisbon, Portugal

<sup>6</sup>BIOPOLIS Program in Genomics, Biodiversity and Land Planning, CIBIO, Campus de Vairão, 4485-661, Vairão, Portugal

<sup>7</sup>Institute of Biodiversity and Ecosystem Research, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, 1 Tsar Osvoboditel Blvd, 1000, Sofia, Bulgaria

<sup>8</sup>National Museum of Natural History at the Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, 1 Tsar Osvoboditel Blvd, 1000, Sofia, Bulgaria

<sup>9</sup>Integrative Ecology Group, Estación Biológica de Doñana, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas, Cartuja TA-10, Edificio I, C. Américo Vespucio, s/n, 41092, Sevilla, Spain

<sup>10</sup>Department of Zoology, Faculty of Sciences, University of Granada, Campus Universitario de Cartuja, Calle Prof. Vicente Callao, 3, 18011, Granada, Spain

<sup>11</sup>Department of Life Sciences, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, P.O. Box 653, Beer-Sheva, 8410501, Israel

<sup>12</sup>Ministry of Economy and Sustainable Development, Institute for Environment and Nature, Radnička cesta 80, HR-10000, Zagreb, Croatia

<sup>13</sup>Croatian Biospelological Society, Rooseveltov trg 6, HR-10000, Zagreb, Croatia

<sup>14</sup>Department of Ecological Dynamics, Leibniz Institute for Zoo and Wildlife Research, Alfred-Kowalke-Straße 17, 10315, Berlin, Germany

<sup>15</sup>Institute of Ecology, Technische Universität Berlin, Rothenburgstr. 12, 12165, Berlin, Germany

<sup>16</sup>University of Sussex, John Maynard Smith Building, Falmer, Brighton, BN1 9RH, UK

<sup>17</sup> Mammal Research Institute Polish Academy of Sciences, Stoczek 1, 17-230, Białowieża, Poland

<sup>18</sup>Israel Nature and Parks Authority, Southern District Omer Industrial Park, P.O. Box 302, Omer, Israel

<sup>19</sup>Biosciences, University of Exeter, Streatham Campus, Hatherly Laboratories, Prince of Wales Road, Exeter, EX4 4PS, UK

# ABSTRACT

Understanding how species respond to climate change is key to informing vulnerability assessments and designing effective conservation strategies, yet research efforts on wildlife responses to climate change fail to deliver a representative overview due to inherent biases. Bats are a species-rich, globally distributed group of organisms that are thought to be particularly sensitive to the effects of climate change because of their high surface-to-volume ratios and low reproductive rates. We systematically reviewed the literature on bat responses to climate change to provide an overview of the current state of knowledge, identify research gaps and biases and highlight future research needs. We found that studies are geographically biased towards Europe, North America and Australia, and temperate and Mediterranean biomes, thus missing a substantial proportion of bat diversity and thermal responses. Less than half of the published studies provide

<sup>\*</sup> Author for correspondence (Tel.: +390812532017; E-mail: danrusso@unina.it).

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 19-33 © 2022 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

concrete evidence for bat responses to climate change. For over a third of studied bat species, response evidence is only based on predictive species distribution models. Consequently, the most frequently reported responses involve range shifts (57% of species) and changes in patterns of species diversity (26%). Bats showed a variety of responses, including both positive (e.g. range expansion and population increase) and negative responses (range contraction and population decrease), although responses to extreme events were always negative or neutral. Spatial responses varied in their outcome and across families, with almost all taxonomic groups featuring both range expansions and contractions, while demographic responses were strongly biased towards negative outcomes, particularly among Pteropodidae and Molossidae. The commonly used correlative modelling approaches can be applied to many species, but do not provide mechanistic insight into behavioural, physiological, phenological or genetic responses. There was a paucity of experimental studies (26%), and only a small proportion of the 396 bat species covered in the examined studies were studied using long-term and/or experimental approaches (11%), even though they are more informative about the effects of climate change. We emphasise the need for more empirical studies to unravel the multifaceted nature of bats' responses to climate change and the need for standardised study designs that will enable synthesis and meta-analysis of the literature. Finally, we stress the importance of overcoming geographic and taxonomic disparities through strengthening research capacity in the Global South to provide a more comprehensive view of terrestrial biodiversity responses to climate change.

Key words: bats, climate change, conservation, life traits, physiology, species range.

# CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	. 20
II.	Methods	.21
	(1) Literature search	21
	(2) Articles screening and classification	21
III.	Results	.23
IV.	Discussion	. 26
	(1) Bat responses to climate change	27
	(2) Gaps in the literature and future research	27
V.	Conclusions	.29
VI.	Acknowledgements	. 29
VII.	References	. 30
VIII.	Supporting information	. 33
	•• •	

# I. INTRODUCTION

Climate change is currently recognised as one of the main threats to global biodiversity (Schmittner & Galbraith, 2008; Wolkovich et al., 2014) with impacts expected to become more severe before the end of the century (Urban, 2015). Yet research efforts on wildlife responses to climate change fail to deliver a representative overview because studies are taxonomically and geographically biased (e.g. Pacifici et al., 2015; Scheffers et al., 2016; Winter et al., 2016; Feeley, Stroud & Perez, 2017), often focus on particular species (e.g. Lane et al., 2012; Tafani et al., 2013; Plard et al., 2014), or are primarily based on correlative modelling approaches (e.g. Warren et al., 2018). The threats that stem from climate change are diverse and multifaceted, resulting in complicated direct and indirect effects on wildlife. Anthropogenically driven climate change has already resulted in increased temperature, changes in precipitation patterns and increased intensity and frequency of extreme events, such as heatwaves, droughts, or wildfires (Allan et al., 2021); all are factors that strongly influence wildlife by increasing mortality, reducing reproductive success, or

altering species-environment relationships and biotic interactions, among other effects (Montoya & Raffaelli, 2010; Moreno & Møller, 2011).

Bats (Chiroptera) are the second most species-rich taxonomic order of mammals, accounting for one-fifth of global mammalian diversity (>1430 species; Simmons & Cirranello, 2021). Bats are globally distributed and inhabit a wide diversity of habitats, spanning from tropical rainforests to arid regions, boreal forests, and oceanic islands (Altringham, 2011). As bats occur in a diverse range of environmental conditions, they represent an excellent study system for assessing the effects of climate change on vertebrates. Bats display a variety of dietary adaptations including insectivory, carnivory, nectarivory and haematophagy (Altringham, 2011), thus playing key roles in ecosystems and providing ecosystem services such as suppression of pest populations, seed dispersal, pollination, enhancement of soil fertility and nutrient distribution (Kunz et al., 2011; Ramírez-Fráncel et al., 2021).

Globally, over 16% of bat species are classified as threatened by the IUCN *Red List* (2022). However, the conservation status of many bats is unknown, with 18% classified as data deficient and 57% with unknown population trends, a higher proportion than other mammals and birds (Frick, Kingston & Flanders, 2020). Bats are especially threatened by habitat loss (43% of species) and bushmeat hunting (33%; IUCN, 2022). New threats have emerged in recent years, including wind energy installations (Frick *et al.*, 2017), emerging infectious diseases (O'Shea *et al.*, 2016), climate change (Sherwin, Montgomery & Lundy, 2013) and increased frequency of heatwaves and fires, resulting in mass mortality events (Welbergen *et al.*, 2008; Ward *et al.*, 2020).

Bats are expected to be particularly sensitive to climate change because they are prone to dehydration due to high surface-to-volume ratios caused by their generally small body mass and their large wing and tail membranes (Korine *et al.*, 2016). Moreover, their slow, *K*-selected reproductive strategy (e.g. Famoso, Hopkins & Davis, 2018) makes them more susceptible to extinction under rapid environmental changes (Frick *et al.*, 2020; O'Grady *et al.*, 2004). Understanding how bats are affected by and cope with climate change is thus key to informing more accurate conservation assessments and management strategies from the global to the local level.

Here, we present a systematic review of bat responses to climate change to provide an overview of the current state of knowledge, identify research gaps and biases, and highlight future research needs. First, we identified studies focusing on the impacts of climate change on bats and classified them based on the methods used, studied taxa and evidence of response to climate change. Second, we summarised the evidence of bat responses to climate change from the individual to the assemblage levels and their response type, from behavioural to evolutionary, and quantified taxonomic and geographic biases. Finally, we tested for associations between the studied climate change events and the observed bat responses.

Overall, our review was guided by the following hypotheses and associated predictions.

- (1) Bats are long-lived mammals that may show a time lag in their functional responses to climate change, and therefore may require long-term (e.g. >20 years) studies to identify responses to climate change. Given the lack of long-term monitoring programmes of bats across the world, we predicted that there will be limited concrete evidence in the literature for bat responses to climate change.
- (2) Given the expected sensitivity of bats to climate change due to their high surface-to-volume ratios we hypothesised that bats will predominately show negative responses to climate change, in the form of population declines and range contractions.
- (3) Given the well-documented mass mortality events of bats, in particular pteropodids, under heat waves (Welbergen *et al.*, 2008), we hypothesised that bat responses to extreme events will be more negative than

their responses to temperature and rainfall changes. We predicted that the family Pteropodidae will show particularly negative responses in the form of population declines and range losses in response to extreme events.

# **II. METHODS**

#### (1) Literature search

We followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) protocols (Page *et al.*, 2021). We searched the *Web of Science* and *Scopus* databases using the following search string: 'Chiroptera' OR 'bat\*' AND 'climate change\*' OR 'global warming' OR 'drought\*' OR 'extreme event\*' OR 'windthrow' OR 'fire\*' OR 'mortality' OR 'extreme temperature\*'. We also searched for relevant grey literature, using the same search terms and the advanced search features in Google, to identify additional papers that had been missed, however, no new documents were identified through our Google search. Searches were performed in English, Spanish, Portuguese and Polish. The final search was carried out in August 2020.

#### (2) Articles screening and classification

The review team consisted of 17 reviewers who held regular meetings to set the inclusion criteria, establish a common review protocol, and discuss any possible divergences in the relevance of some studies. To ensure consistency among reviewers, 46% of the documents were independently reviewed by at least two reviewers. If the reviewers disagreed about whether the paper should be included, they discussed the paper, and if opinions were still divergent, the paper was reviewed by a third reviewer. All reviewers were given clear protocols to follow with detailed descriptions of the inclusion criteria and practice papers to assess consistency among reviewers.

We first screened the title and abstract of the studies retrieved in our search and excluded documents that did not study the impacts of climate change on bats. Specifically, we interpreted as an impact of climate change any measured change, whether positive (e.g. range expansion, population increase), negative (e.g. range contraction, population decrease) or neutral (e.g. no change or unclear trend), in response to climatically driven pressures. We included impacts that were either explicitly observed and measured or predicted based on modelling approaches. We then read the full text to assess its relevance according to the following four criteria, at least one of which had to be fulfilled for the study to be included in the review: (C1) the paper focused on assessing bat responses to the effects of climate change, including predictive modelling studies (speculative studies without fact-based evidence were excluded); (C2) the paper reported quantitative data on morphology, behaviour, colony size and location or hibernation in relation to climate change; (C3) the paper clearly mentioned before–after, control–impact experiments or a long-term monitoring design to tease apart the effects of climate change from the other confounding factors; (C4) the paper reported the impacts of a single extreme event putatively linked to climate change.

Because our aim was to establish a baseline on the overall current state of knowledge on bat responses to climate change, our retained studies reported myriad exposures (increase in temperature, changes in precipitation, etc.) and/or multiple outcomes (spatial, demographic, physiological, etc.) based on different methodological approaches (empirical, model-based, etc.). Hence, our studies were not homogenous and sample sizes for each response were too low to allow systematic extraction of quantitative data that could be summarised as standardised effect sizes for a meta-analysis (Gurevitch *et al.*, 2018). This would require a narrower, more focused question that could direct the literature search and data extraction, and prior identification of common metrics reported across several studies to address that question. We instead report our findings as a qualitative synthesis. From each retained paper, we extracted information on the bat species investigated, the geographic scope of the study, study type, evidence level, methods, temporal period, climate change events, bat responses and interaction with other drivers (see online Supporting Information, Table S1). Chi-squared tests were used to test our predictions and identify associations between the studied climate change event, study type, recorded responses and the studied biome.

Where possible, we also assessed whether the observed responses were positive or negative. Changes in diversity or community structure, as well as individual behaviour, are difficult to evaluate in terms of their conservation implications. Thus, this classification was applied only to studies reporting demographic and spatial responses. We considered as positive



**Fig. 1.** PRISMA flow diagram illustrating the systematic review process for studies investigating bats and climate change. \*Inclusion criteria: (1) paper focuses on assessing bat responses to climate change; (2) paper reports quantitative data on bats in relation to climate change; (3) paper reports evidence from long-term monitoring or field experiment; (4) paper reports on the impacts on bats due to single extreme events putatively linked to climate change.

those responses that potentially, but clearly, favour the longterm persistence of populations or species (e.g. range expansions, increased population size, increased reproductive success, decreased mortality), and as negative those responses that can lead to local or global extinction (e.g. range contractions, decreased population size, decreased reproductive success, increased mortality). Mixed or ambiguous responses were classified as no change or unclear.

## **III. RESULTS**

We retrieved 1081 papers, 926 of which were rejected based on their title and abstract or because they could not be accessed (two books and one unidentified reference). Of the remaining 155 papers, 77 were excluded after reading the full text because they did not satisfy at least one of our inclusion criteria. The final data set included 78 papers (Fig. 1; Table S2). See Table S3 for a list of excluded studies, with reasons for exclusion.

The retained papers were published between 1932 and 2020, but the majority (>80%) were published during the last 10 years (Fig. 2B). Most studies relied on species distribution modelling (26%), field experiments (24%) and field observations (23%), with other types of approaches representing a minor portion of the published evidence (Fig. 2G). The type of evidence retrieved was mainly observational (72% of papers), followed by experimental approaches (26%). In terms of the level of evidence (Fig. 2H), 44% of papers



**Fig. 2.** Summary of published evidence for the impacts of climate change on bats, according to (A) inclusion criterion (see Section II.2); (B) year of publication; (C) biome investigated, Temp., temperate; Trop., tropical; (D) climate change event studied; (E) observed specific response by bats; (F) general category of type of response (note that mortality here refers to mass mortality events, usually in response to extreme events); (G) type of study; (H) evidence level; and (I) level of response.

reported a concrete response (i.e. recorded a phenotypic or behavioural response to climate change through either field or laboratory experiments or field observations), while 40% reported a response based only on model predictions [predictive species distribution models (SDMs) or demographic simulations]. Around 15% of studies were classified as speculative, i.e. they interpreted observed changes as responses to climate change without supporting evidence (Fig. 2H).

The reviewed studies reported evidence of the impact of climate change on 396 bat species (see full list in Table S4), 93% (370 species) of which were studied using SDM approaches, 52% using field observations (206 species), 11% using experimental approaches (43 species), and less than 1% (three species) using genetic methods. More than a third of the species studied (151 species, 38%) were only studied using SDM approaches, and only 38 species (<10%) were featured in more than three papers (Table S4). The most frequently studied species was the North American little brown bat (Myotis lucifugus; 10 studies), followed by four European species (Rhinolophus ferrumequinum, Hypsugo savii, Myotis daubentonii and Pipistrellus kuhlii) and by Myotis thysanodes (all featuring in eight studies each). Of the retrieved papers, 18% covered a time span of less than 1 year (Fig. S1). After removing these short-term studies and two studies dealing with palaeoclimatic data, the median time span of studies was 22 years (range: 1-139), which dropped to 10 years (range: 1-132) after excluding modelling papers projecting climatic conditions under future scenarios (e.g. to 2070). Only nine field studies covered periods >20 years (Fig. S1). The most frequently reported responses by bats were at both the

population (28%) and species (45%) levels and mostly consisted of range shifts (57%), changes in patterns of diversity (26%) and demographic changes (20%) (Fig. 2E, F). Only four papers provided evidence of no response (from 12 species), all dealing with a lack of demographic responses or community changes in relation to climate change. The climatic event reported most frequently as affecting bats was increased mean temperature (50%), followed by change in rainfall regime (23%) (Fig. 2D). The most studied continents were Europe (40%, 27 studies), North America (27%, 18 studies) and Oceania (19%, 13 studies), while the least studied were South America and Africa (two and three studies, respectively) and Asia (6%, four studies; Fig. 3). Correspondingly, the most studied biomes were temperate coniferous and broadleaf forest (47%) and Mediterranean (20%) (Fig. 2C).

We found significant associations between the studied climate change events and the identified responses  $(\chi^2 = 76.35, df = 42, P < 0.005)$ . Studies of the effects of heatwaves primarily reported mass mortality events and physiological changes, but not range changes. By contrast, studies of the effects of temperature increase were associated with range changes but not mortality. We also found significant associations between study type and the climate change event examined ( $\chi^2 = 52.65, df = 36, P < 0.05$ ), whereby the effects of heatwaves and wildfires were primarily examined using experimental studies. Despite the lack of significant associations between biome and study type (P > 0.05), only field observations and SDM studies were carried out in the tropics, while experiments were mainly carried out in temperate environments (14 papers, 70% of experimental studies).



Fig. 3. Global distribution of studies on bats and climate change according to country/region of study. Countries with no studies included in this review are depicted with no colour.

reduced rainfall

20

0-

Climate change event





physiology

Response

population decrease

(Figure legend continues on next page.)

no population changes population decrease population increase

Vespertilionidae

Family

The direction of the reported consequences of climate change on bats varied with the type of response (Fig. 4). A prevalence of negative effects was consistent for reported demographic and spatial responses. Of the demographic responses to all climate change events, 61% were negative, including increased mortality and decreased reproductive success leading to population decline, the remaining 39% included both mixed, neutral and positive effects. Of 160 retrieved spatial responses, 30% reported actual or potentially positive effects (i.e. range expansion), 40% negative (i.e. range contraction), and the remaining 30% provided mixed or unclear evidence. In line with our hypothesis, all responses to extreme events were negative (range contraction or population decrease) or unclear/no change (Fig. 4). In addition, while spatial responses showed high variability in their direction and across bat families, demographic responses were mostly negative, particularly among Pteropodidae and Molossidae. Positive demographic responses (population increases) were identified for only some vespertilionid and rhinolophid bats, mostly associated with temperature increases. Twenty-five papers highlighted that climate change may interact with other drivers potentially affecting bats, the most frequently reported being land-use change and associated habitat fragmentation (40% of papers).

## **IV. DISCUSSION**

Understanding how bats respond to climate change is key to informing vulnerability assessments and to designing effective conservation strategies, not only for bats but also for other terrestrial vertebrate groups experiencing similar pressures. Our analysis represents the first comprehensive systematic review of the evidence for how bats are responding to climate change, moving our understanding forward from previous work based on predictions and scattered evidence (Jones & Rebelo, 2013; Sherwin et al., 2013). Since those earlier reviews, the number of studies addressing this topic has greatly increased, but only a small proportion provides concrete evidence for bat responses to climate change. Only around 7% of papers and reports published in the last 90 years that mentioned bats and climate change added evidence on the topic, a rather limited body of literature when compared to other topics relating to bats (e.g. López-Baucells, Rocha & Fernández-Llamazares, 2018). Indeed, the overall research effort on bats and climate change is rather low in comparison to other vertebrate groups. For

example, and notwithstanding a total number of species that is nearly an order of magnitude greater than the total number of bats, Møller, Fiedler & Berthold (2010) retrieved >2800 papers dealing with the effects of climate change on birds, compared with our final data set of 78 papers identified as actually addressing this topic for bats. As a consequence of this lower research effort, the available evidence only includes *ca.* 27% of bat species (396 species out of >1430), more than a third of which were only studied using modelling approaches.

Nearly half of the evidence for the effects of climate change on bats comes from modelling studies, primarily based on projections of species distributions under future climate change scenarios. While modelling studies can provide useful estimates for conservation assessments and planning, they inevitably rely on critical assumptions and can have a limited predictive capacity (Sofaer et al., 2018; Venne & Curie, 2021). Thus they do not offer concrete evidence for the effects of climate change, but rather predictions of what could happen provided that the equilibrium assumption holds, the data upon which they were based are representative and sufficient, and all relevant environmental variables are included (Santini et al., 2021). The high proportion of modelling and speculative studies (Fig. 2H) underlines the limited scientific evidence available on the effects of climate change on bats.

Ideally, bat responses to climate change (spatial, phenological, demographic, etc.) should be quantitatively synthesised using a meta-analysis. However, we found that the empirical evidence to date is sparse and not sufficiently homogeneous to derive common effect sizes across studies suitable for a meta-analysis. For example, a meta-analysis addressing the effects of climate change on range and elevational shifts across taxa included 764 and 1367 individual species responses (measured as km/decade), respectively (Chen et al., 2011). Similarly, evidence for elevational shifts in birds (m/year) was synthesised from data for hundreds of species and dozens of studies worldwide (Scridel et al., 2018; Neate-Clegg et al., 2021), whereas phenological shifts (reported as days of advancement/delay per decade) were analysed from a similarly large database (127 studies; Cohen, Lajeunesse & Rohr, 2018). A similar approach is desirable for bat species, vet our review reveals that much of the evidence for the effects of climate change on bats is based on modelling rather than long-term observational studies. We call for increased efforts to design studies that are aimed at understanding bat responses to climate change and for the collection and reporting of results in a standardised manner. Publications

Francesca Festa and others

<sup>(</sup>Figure legend continued from previous page.)

**Fig. 4.** Effects of climate change on bats, weighted according to the number of records, for (A) spatial responses, (B) demographic responses, and (C) other responses (behaviour, physiology and phenology). Plots show bat family, reported climate change events, and bat response. In (A) and (B), responses are classified as either positive (range expansion or population increase, in green), negative (range contraction or population decrease, in pink) or neutral (no change, in grey). In (C), climate change events are related to three specific types of response (behaviour, physiology, phenology) due to the more variable nature of these responses and the low number of studies for each category. Note that only responses with N > 5 are included in this figure.

should provide sufficient raw data to facilitate their use in future meta-analyses (Radchuk *et al.*, 2019).

We identified geographic biases in the study of bats and climate change. A bias towards the Global North (highincome countries, covering primarily temperate, Mediterranean and boreal biomes) is common in biodiversity research (e.g. Blettler et al., 2018; Titley, Snaddon & Turner, 2017; Winter et al., 2016), likely related to socioeconomic disparities. A large portion of bat diversity is concentrated in the tropics (West Africa, Central and South America, Southeast Asia), with diversity hotspots in tropical forest biomes (Cooper-Bohannon et al., 2016; Myers et al., 2000). Hence, the current evidence base for the effects of climate change on bats is unlikely to represent their full range of responses. Species at higher latitudes may experience different pressures from climate change compared to those in the tropics, for example in terms of the types and intensity of extreme events or changes to weather patterns (Wigley, 2009), and may require different adaptations to compensate accordingly (Pacifici et al., 2015).

#### (1) Bat responses to climate change

Like other animals, bats may respond to climate change either by moving to different areas, adapting to new conditions, or going extinct. We identified a wide range of responses by bats to different climate change events, including positive, negative and neutral responses. Our review identified a strong prevalence of spatial (range) changes (Fig. 2E, F), including both range shifts and expansions. This may reflect a genuine tendency of bats to move in response to environmental change due to their relatively high mobility, but this may not apply to all species and regions. Evidence for extensive range expansion comes from ecologically plastic species, such as Pipistrellus nathusii, P. kuhlii, H. savii and Tadarida brasiliensis, which have expanded their ranges rapidly towards higher latitudes during the past few decades (Ancillotto et al., 2016; Lundy, Montgomery & Russ, 2010; McCracken et al., 2018; Uhrin et al., 2016). By contrast, evidence of range losses was primarily derived from correlative model predictions rather than observational studies (Rebelo, Tarroso & Jones, 2010; Arumoogum, Schoeman & Ramdhani, 2019; Razgour et al., 2021).

The evolutionary adaptation of wildlife to climate change is hard to quantify because the data necessary to disentangle phenotypic plasticity and evolution are scarce or difficult to collect (Radchuk *et al.*, 2019). Razgour *et al.* (2019) highlighted the role of climate-adapted genotypes in species' responses to climate change. Bats can react rapidly to changing weather patterns by modifying their phenology, as has been documented by several studies. For example, during the last 22 years, *T. brasiliensis* has advanced summer migration and parturition timing by around 2 weeks and begun to overwinter in areas previously occupied exclusively during the summer months, presumably in response to climate change-related temperature increases (Stepanian & Wainwright, 2018). Such changes are common in vertebrates 469185x, 2023, 1, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://online.library.wiley.com/doi/10.111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://online.library.wiley.com/doi/10.111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://online.library.wiley.com/doi/10.111/brv.12893 by Batelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [13/03/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://online.library.w

[e.g. birds (Crick, 2004); amphibians and reptiles (Winter *et al.*, 2016)], particularly in temperate biomes where seasonal environmental conditions are less predictable and species inhabiting these areas may have evolved the flexibility to change their life cycles (Reed *et al.*, 2010). Phenological changes that seem adaptive to climate change in the short term may prove to be ecological traps if mismatches occur between the phenology of the bats and the key resources they rely on (e.g. water, arthropods or fruiting plants), with unpredictable effects on species persistence in a given area (Renner & Zohner, 2018; Stenseth & Mysterud, 2002).

Extinction is the most dramatic response of wildlife to climate change. Several modelling studies predict substantial range contractions, and a consequent increase in extinction risk, for bat species such as the African fruit bats Epomophorus wahlbergii and E. angolensis (Arumoogum et al., 2019) due to the disappearance of suitable habitat soon. Increased and unusual mortality rates have been reported for at least eight species [e.g. Myotis nattereri (Reusch et al., 2019) and Pteropus giganteus (Dey, Roy & Chattopadhyay, 2015)] in response to extreme events directly associated with climate change, including heatwaves and wildfires. Extreme events can result in the loss of individuals due to direct mortality (e.g. heat stress, roost burning) or resource depletion (e.g. water availability). Such extreme events are not a new stressor for wildlife, but with climate change their frequency and intensity are predicted to increase (Ummenhofer & Meehl, 2017), placing wildlife under stronger selection and with the potential to lead to extinctions of endemic species with narrow or insular ranges (Leclerc, Courchamp & Bellard, 2018). There is increasing evidence that extreme events related to climate change have played a key role in the local extinction of sevincluding eral species, bumblebees (Rasmont & Iserbyt, 2012) and corals (Sheppard, Sheppard & Fenner, 2020), and even to total extinction, as in the case of the Bramble Cay mosaic-tailed rat, Melomys rubicola (Waller et al., 2017). Although the extinction of bat species or extirpation of bat populations due to climate change has yet to be documented, a recent study predicted dramatic population crashes and high extinction risk during the next few decades for the Mediterranean island-endemic Sardinian long-eared bat, *Plecotus sardus* (Ancillotto *et al.*, 2021).

#### (2) Gaps in the literature and future research

Obtaining more physiological and molecular data on species responses to climate change will be essential for improving the ability of models to predict future changes in distributions and abundance (Bozinovic & Pörtner, 2015; Urban *et al.*, 2016), but both fields are underrepresented in the bat literature. Only three studies included in this review addressed genetic responses to climate change. This reflects the general paucity of studies applying genomic and genetic approaches in climate change research (Pauls *et al.*, 2013). Threats to hotspots of bat genetic diversity under climate change could limit the evolutionary potential of these species and their ability to respond to environmental changes (Razgour et al., 2013). This highlights the importance of integrating genetic/genomic tools to assess species' long-term viability under climate change. Genomic tools not only provide information on losses of genetic diversity and changes in genetic composition but also on changes in effective population size and genomic vulnerability resulting from maladaptation to changing conditions (Hohenlohe, Funk & Rajora, 2021). Adaptive genetic variation associated with current local climatic conditions can be used to infer the sensitivity of populations to future climatic conditions, and therefore to guide conservation efforts (Razgour et al., 2018). In addition, genomic tools can provide evidence of adaptive responses to climate change (Hoffmann & Sgrò, 2011), which is currently absent from the bat climate change literature. Initiatives to generate genomic databases for bats across the globe such as the Bat1K project (Teeling et al., 2018) will facilitate future research into the genomic responses of bats to climate change.

Similarly, the physiological responses of bats to climate change have been neglected. The available information suggests that bats respond to increasing environmental temperatures by reducing their torpor bout duration (Stawski & Geiser, 2012) and increasing their metabolic rate (Humphries, Thomas & Speakman, 2002); heatwaves leading to heat stress often result in mass mortality (Pruvot et al., 2019). Species are likely to respond differently to climate change based on their mobility and thermal tolerance, and therefore more research is needed on a wider range of bat species. The physiological impacts of climate change have been studied mostly through examining the effects of increased temperature and aridity, while other important factors, such as phenology, are often neglected (Feder, 2010); yet the latter is particularly relevant for bats that enter torpor/hibernation or migrate seasonally in response to changing food availability. Physiological traits can limit species distribution ranges because they influence the survival and reproduction of organisms under specific environmental conditions. Therefore, to predict responses to climate change accurately we need to have a full understanding of their physiological capacities (Chown et al., 2010). The general paucity of data on bat physiological traits, even for well-studied species, is likely to impede our ability to improve model predictions and incorporate mechanistic modelling approaches.

Species-specific life histories associated with environmental constraints, like hibernation, can influence the way climate influences population dynamics. However, the influence of hibernation on responses to climate change is poorly understood. We know little about the plasticity of hibernation behaviours and the capacity of hibernators to respond to climate change. Bats face extreme energetic challenges during the winter period, when the highest mortality rates are recorded (Lentini *et al.*, 2015; Fritze & Puechmaille, 2018). Hibernators may be particularly susceptible to changes in seasonal climate as they have a relatively short activity season in which to reproduce and gain sufficient mass to survive the following winter. Hibernating bats periodically arouse from hibernation, but arousals are energetically expensive and can account for around 75% of winter energy expenditure (Kayser, 1953). More frequent extreme temperature changes during winter could cause more premature arousals and an increased risk of water loss (Thomas & Geiser, 1997), which can result in dehydration or depletion of critical energy reserves to the extent that the bat is unable to survive the winter. Limited food availability when bats arouse from hibernation can also cause significant mortalities (Jones *et al.*, 2009). An understanding of natural activity patterns and whether and how seasonal climate variability can affect the fitness of hibernators will be essential to understanding bat responses to climate change.

Climate change is causing phenological mismatches between interacting species whose activity is triggered by different environmental stimuli. While this phenomenon has received substantial attention in migrating birds (e.g. Saino et al., 2011; Visser, Holleman & Gienapp, 2006), fleshy-fruited plants (González-Varo et al., 2021) and insect pollinators (e.g. Forrest, 2016; Memmott et al., 2007), we found no studies investigating phenological mismatches in bats. Many tropical bats are nectarivorous and changes in flowering patterns (e.g. due to precipitation regime shifts) may affect their resource use throughout the year. Similarly, for temperate bat species that enter torpor or migrate to avoid thermal stress during the coldest season (Krauel & McCracken, 2013; Meyer, Senulis & Reinartz, 2016), changes in seasonal temperatures may create mismatches between bat emergence from torpor or return from migration and seasonal resource availability.

Changes in interspecific interactions under climate change may alter the ecosystem services provided by animals (e.g. Prather et al., 2013). Whether the ecosystem services delivered by bats (e.g. pest suppression, pollination, seed dispersal) will be affected by climate change is unknown, yet very likely. Models predict that climate change will lead to a more than 75% reduction in the overlap between the ranges of the bat Leptonycteris nivalis and the Agave plants they pollinate during their annual migration, which may drive the bat to extinction and adversely affect the sexual reproduction and genetic variation of the pollinated plant (Gómez-Ruiz & Lacher, 2019). Similarly, insectivorous bat species are predicted to shift their ranges to higher latitudes to track suitable conditions, such as common pipistrelles in Europe (Smeraldo et al., 2021). Their pest suppression ecosystem service would cease in the abandoned regions, with potentially negative consequences for agriculture, forests and human health. Yet, all these effects are currently hypothetical, and our review reveals the need for empirical studies.

Indirect effects of climate change on bats from interspecific interactions other than resource availability also have been understudied. Climate change may impact other species that naturally interact with bats, like their natural predators, or foster novel interactions with species that did not previously interact with bats. Climate change may modify interspecific competition between bats and other organisms (including other bat species), or generate completely novel competitive scenarios, the outcomes of which are hard to predict (Salinas-Ramos *et al.*, 2020). Impacts on bats from expanding populations of introduced species (Welch & Leppanen, 2017) may also be exacerbated because many invasive species thrive in altered environments and may exploit conditions related to climate change (Gallardo & Aldridge, 2013).

A critical obstacle in assessing the response of bats to climate change is that reported evidence may represent a response to a short-term process, such as weather fluctuations, rather than to long-term climatic changes. Longitudinal studies reporting actual (field) evidence of responses by bats represent only a minor fraction of the total studies (12%), yet they are extremely valuable to provide clearer insights into the differential effects of short- and long-term fluctuations in environmental conditions. For example, changes in species distributions or phenology, which are critical to understanding and monitoring the effectiveness of adaptation, can be detected only via long-term surveys. However, most of the papers in our review that included timeseries information consisted of comparisons between the recent or current distribution of bats and predicted changes in climatic suitability in future decades; only a few studies analysed the results of longitudinal studies lasting 10-30 years to investigate how species have already been impacted by climate change. Expanding or establishing systematic monitoring of the abundance and distribution of species and populations is a key priority to validate assessments of species' vulnerability to climate change. Monitoring efforts should be targeted at areas where the effects of climate change are likely to be most prominent to expand empirical knowledge about climate change impacts on wildlife and provide a more solid basis for improving future projections.

There is mounting evidence that the intensity, frequency and duration of extreme weather events are increasing around the globe (Allan et al., 2021). Identifying the populations most at risk is important because such events can have a devastating impact on small populations, in particular for species with low reproductive and population growth rates, like bats. Populations in tropical, subtropical and arid regions are likely to be most at risk because tropical storms and droughts are predicted to become more frequent and severe (Sherwin et al., 2013). O'Shea et al. (2016) reported 114 mass bat mortality events from abiotic factors, including heatwaves, droughts, extremely cold weather, flooding and storms, but no data were available from Europe, Africa or South America. We still do not know how heatwaves impact the reproductive success of bats. Collecting data on the effects of extreme weather events will be crucial for mitigating impacts and implementing conservation actions in high-risk areas. For example, creating artificial water sources to provide drinking water and foraging opportunities for bats in arid environments could support populations during drought events (Korine et al., 2016).

#### V. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Several biological and ecological traits of bats may make them sensitive to climate change, yet there is surprisingly little evidence on how these mammals respond to this anthropogenic environmental pressure. Our systematic review of published evidence for bat responses to climate change highlights important gaps in the literature and the way we study the impacts of climate change.

(2) The focus on correlative predictive modelling approaches (SDMs), whilst allowing the study of impacts on species at local-to-global scales, does not facilitate an in-depth understanding of behavioural, physiological, phenological and genetic responses.

(3) Longitudinal studies are particularly challenging in longlived organisms like bats, especially given the short timeframe of most research grants. However, they are essential for tracking species' responses to climate change. Similarly, experimental approaches can provide concrete evidence for species responses but are challenging in long-lived species and species of conservation concern.

(4) Genomic approaches could help bridge the gap by providing a snapshot of both evolutionary adaptations and phenotypic plasticity (e.g. through differential gene expression analysis or epigenetic approaches), although such studies should be performed in addition to investigations of phenotypic responses in the field.

(5) More attention should be given to the interactions between climate change and other drivers that may impact bats, such as land-use change, biological invasions, or perturbations in interspecific and ecosystem-wide interactions between bats and their environment.

(6) Geographic and taxonomic disparities must be overcome to enable a more comprehensive view of biodiversity responses to climate change through strengthening research capacity in the Global South, where a large proportion of biodiversity is found.

#### VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This article is based on work from COST Action CA18107 'Climate change and bats: from science to conservation - Clim-Bats' (https://climbats.eu/), supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology). L. S. was supported by the MUR Rita Levi Montalcini program, O. R. by a Natural Environment Research Council Independent Research Fellowship (NE/M018660/20, R. R. by a fellowship from the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (2020.01129. CEECIND/CP1601/CT0004), A. B. -L. by a Juan de la Cierva-Incorporación grant (IJCI-2017-31419) from the Spanish Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities and an EMERGIA grant (EMERGIA20\_00252) from the Junta de Andalucía) and N. T. by the Bulgarian National Science Fund (CP-06-COST/15 from 16.12.2020) and a PhD Fellowship from Karoll Knowledge Foundation. We are indebted to Dr. John Welch, Dr. Brock Fenton and an anonymous reviewer for valuable comments. Open Access Funding provided by Universita degli Studi di Napoli Federico II within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

#### **VII. REFERENCES**

- References identified with an asterisk (\*) were included in our systematic review.
- \*ADAMS, R. A. (2010). Bat reproduction declines when conditions mimic climate change projections for western North America. *Ecology* 91(8), 2437–2445.
- \*ADAMS, R. A. & HAYES, M. A. (2008). Water availability and successful lactation by bats as related to climate change in arid regions of western North America. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **77**(6), 1115–1121.
- \*ADAMS, R. A. & HAYES, M. A. (2018). Assemblage-level analysis of sex-ratios in Coloradan bats in relation to climate variables: a model for future expectations. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 14, e00379.
- \*AGUADO-BAUTISTA, Ó. & ESCALANTE, T. (2015). Changes on patterns of endemism of the Mexican land mammals by global warming. *Revista Mexicana de Biodiversidad* 86(1), 99–110.
- ALLAN, R. P., HAWKINS, E., BELLOUIN, N. & COLLINS, B. (2021). IPCC, 2021: Summary for Policymakers. Global Warming of 1.5 °C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5 °C above Pre-Industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Res; IPCC: Geneva, Switzerland, 2018.
- ALTRINGHAM, J. D. (2011). Bats: From Evolution to Conservation. New York: Oxford University Press.
- \*AMORIM, F., CARVALHO, S. B., HONRADO, J. & REBELO, H. (2014). Designing optimized multi-species monitoring networks to detect range shifts driven by climate change: a case study with bats in the North of Portugal. *PLoS One* 9(1), e87291.
- \*AMORIM, F., JORGE, I., BEJA, P. & REBELO, H. (2018). Following the water? Landscape-scale temporal changes in bat spatial distribution in relation to Mediterranean summer drought. *Ecology and Evolution* 8(11), 5801–5814.
- \*AMORIM, F., MATA, V. A., BEJA, P. & REBELO, H. (2015). Effects of a drought episode on the reproductive success of European free-tailed bats (*Tadarida teniotis*). *Mammalian Biology* 80(3), 228–236.
- \*ANCILLOTTO, L., BUDINSKI, I., NARDONE, V., DI SALVO, I., DELLA CORTE, M., BOSSO, L. & RUSSO, D. (2018). What is driving range expansion in a common bat? Hints from thermoregulation and habitat selection. *Behavioural Processes* 157, 540–546.
- ANCILLOTTO, L., FICHERA, G., PIDINCHEDDA, E., VEITH, M., KIEFER, A., MUCEDDA, M. & RUSSO, D. (2021). Wildfires, heatwaves and human disturbance threaten insular endemic bats. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **30**(14), 4401–4416.
- \*ANCILLOTTO, L., SANTINI, L., RANC, N., MAIORANO, L. & RUSSO, D. (2016). Extraordinary range expansion in a common bat: the potential roles of climate change and urbanisation. *The Science of Nature* **103**(3-4), 15.
- \*ARUMOOGUM, N., SCHOEMAN, M. C. & RAMDHANI, S. (2019). The relative influence of abiotic and biotic factors on suitable habitat of Old World fruit bats under current and future climate scenarios. *Mammalian Biology* 98(1), 188–200.
- \*AUSTIN, L. V., SILVIS, A., FORD, W. M. & POWERS, K. E. (2020). Effects of historic wildfire and prescribed fire on site occupancy of bats in Shenandoah National Park, Virginia, USA. *Journal of Forestry Research* 31(4), 1255–1270.
- \*BILGIN, R., KEŞIŞOĞLU, A. & REBELO, H. (2012). Distribution patterns of bats in the Eastern Mediterranean Region through a climate change perspective. Acta Chiropterologica 14(2), 425–437.
- \*BLAKEY, R. V., WEBB, E. B., KESLER, D. C., SIEGEL, R. B., CORCORAN, D. & JOHNSON, M. (2019). Bats in a changing landscape: linking occupancy and traits of a diverse montane bat community to fire regime. *Ecology and Evolution* 9(9), 5324–5337.
- BLETTLER, M. C., ABRIAL, E., KHAN, F. R., SIVRI, N. & ESPINOLA, L. A. (2018). Freshwater plastic pollution: recognizing research biases and identifying knowledge gaps. *Water Research* 143, 416–424.
- \*BLOMBERG, A. S., VASKO, V., SALONEN, S., PĒTERSONS, G. & LILLEY, T. M. (2021). First record of a Nathusius' pipistrelle (*Pipistrellus nathusii*) overwintering at a latitude above 60° N. Mammalia 85(1), 74–78.
- \*BONDARECO, A., KÖRTNER, G. & GEISER, F. (2014). Hot bats: extreme thermal tolerance in a desert heat wave. *Naturvissenschaften* **101**(8), 679–685.
- \*Bosso, L., ANCILLOTTO, L., SMERALDO, S., D'ARCO, S., MIGLIOZZI, A., CONTI, P. & RUSSO, D. (2018). Loss of potential bat habitat following a severe wildfire: a model-based rapid assessment. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* 27(11), 756–769.
- \*BOURNE, S. & HAMILTON-SMITH, E. (2007). Miniopterus schreibersü bassanü and climate change. Australasian Bat Society Neuvsletter 28, 67–69.
- BOZINOVIC, F. & PÖRTNER, H. O. (2015). Physiological ecology meets climate change. Ecology and Evolution 5(5), 1025–1030.
- \*BURLES, D. W., BRIGHAM, R. M., RING, R. A. & REIMCHEN, T. E. (2009). Influence of weather on two insectivorous bats in a temperate Pacific Northwest rainforest. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 87(2), 132–138.
- \*BURNS, C. E., JOHNSTON, K. M. & SCHMITZ, O. J. (2003). Global climate change and mammalian species diversity in US national parks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100, 11474–11477.

- \*CHATTOPADHYAY, B., GARG, K. M., RAY, R. & RHEINDT, F. E. (2019). Fluctuating fortunes: genomes and habitat reconstructions reveal global climate-mediated changes in bats' genetic diversity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 286(1911), 20190304.
- CHEN, I. C., HILL, J. K., OHLEMÜLLER, R., ROY, D. B. & THOMAS, C. D. (2011). Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. *Science* 333(6045), 1024–1026.
- CHOWN, S. L., HOFFMANN, A. A., KRISTENSEN, T. N., ANGILLETTA, M. J. JR., STENSETH, N. C. & PERTOLDI, C. (2010). Adapting to climate change: a perspective from evolutionary physiology. *Climate Research* 43(1-2), 3–15.
- COHEN, J. M., LAJEUNESSE, M. J. & ROHR, J. R. (2018). A global synthesis of animal phenological responses to climate change. *Nature Climate Change* **8**(3), 224–228.
- COOPER-BOHANNON, R., REBELO, H., JONES, G., COTTERILL, F., MONADJEM, A., SCHOEMAN, M. C. & PARK, K. (2016). Predicting bat distributions and diversity hotspots in southern Africa. *Hystrix, the Italian Journal* of Mammalogy **27**(1), 1–11722.
- \*COSTA, W. F., RIBEIRO, M., SARAIVA, A. M., IMPERATRIZ-FONSECA, V. L. & GIANNINI, T. C. (2018). Bat diversity in Carajás National Forest (Eastern Amazon) and potential impacts on ecosystem services under climate change. *Biological Conservation* 218, 200–210.
- CRICK, H. Q. (2004). The impact of climate change on birds. Ibis 146, 48-56.
- DEY, S., ROY, U. S. & CHATTOPADHYAY, S. (2015). Effect of heat wave on the Indian flying fox *Pteropus giganteus* (Mammalia: Chiroptera: Pteropodidae) population from Purulia district of West Bengal, India. *Journal of Threatened Taxa* 7, 7029–7033.
- \*DOTY, A. C., STAWSKY, C., LAW, B. S. & GEISER, F. (2016). Post-wildfire physiological ecology of an Australian microbat. *Journal of Comparative Physiology* 186(7), 937–946.
- \*DOWNS, C. T., AWUAH, A., JORDAAN, M., MAGAGULA, L., MKHIZE, T., PAINE, C. & HART, L. A. (2015). Too hot to sleep? Sleep behaviour and surface body temperature of Wahlberg's epauletted fruit bat. *PLoS One* 10(3), e0119419.
- FAMOSO, N. A., HOPKINS, S. S. & DAVIS, E. B. (2018). How do diet and body mass drive reproductive strategies in mammals? *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 124(2), 151–156.
- FEDER, M. E. (2010). Physiology and global climate change. Annual Review of Physiology 72, 123–125.
- FEELEY, K. J., STROUD, J. T. & PEREZ, T. M. (2017). Most 'global' reviews of species' responses to climate change are not truly global. *Diversity and Distributions* 23(3), 231–234.
- FORREST, J. R. (2016). Complex responses of insect phenology to climate change. Current Opinion in Insect Science 17, 49–54.
- FRICK, W. F., BAERWALD, E. F., POLLOCK, J. F., BARKLAY, R. M. R., SZYMANSKI, J. A., WELLER, T. J., RUSSEL, A. L., LOEB, S. C., MEDELLIN, R. A. & MCGUIRE, L. P. (2017). Fatalities at wind turbines may threaten population viability of a migratory bat. *Biological Conservation* 209, 172–177.
- FRICK, W. F., KINGSTON, T. & FLANDERS, J. (2020). A review of the major threats and challenges to global bat conservation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1469(1), 5–25.
- \*FRICK, W. F., REYNOLDS, D. S. & KUNZ, T. H. (2010). Influence of climate and reproductive timing on demography of little brown myotis *Myotis lucifugus. Journal of Animal Ecology* **79**(1), 128–136.
- \*FRICK, W. F., STEPANIAN, P. M., KELLY, J. F., HOWARD, K. W., KUSTER, C. M., KUNZ, T. H. & CHILSON, P. B. (2012). Climate and weather impact timing of emergence of bats. *PLoS One* 7(8), e42737.
- FRITZE, M. & PUECHMAILLE, S. J. (2018). Identifying unusual mortality events in bats: a baseline for bat hibernation monitoring and white-nose syndrome research. *Mammal Review* 48(3), 224–228.
- \*FROIDEVAUX, J. S., BOUGHEY, K. L., BARLOW, K. E. & JONES, G. (2017). Factors driving population recovery of the greater horseshoe bat (*Rhinolophus ferrumequinum*) in the UK: implications for conservation. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 26(7), 1601–1621.
- GALLARDO, B. & ALDRIDGE, D. C. (2013). The 'dirty dozen': socio-economic factors amplify the invasion potential of 12 high-risk aquatic invasive species in Great Britain and Ireland. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 50(3), 757–766.
- \*GÓMEZ-RUIZ, E. P. & LACHER, T. E. JR. (2019). Climate change, range shifts, and the disruption of a pollinator-plant complex. *Scientific Reports* 9(1), 1–10.
- GONZÁLEZ-VARO, J. P., RUMEU, B., ALBRECHT, J., ARROYO, J. M., BUENO, R. S., BURGOS, T. & TRAVESET, A. (2021). Limited potential for bird migration to disperse plants to cooler latitudes. *Nature* 595(7865), 75–79.
- \*GOTTFRIED, I., GOTTFRIED, T., LESINSKI, G., HEBDA, G., IGNACZAK, M., WOJTASZYN, G. & KOWALSKI, M. (2020). Long-term changes in winter abundance of the barbastelle *Barbastella barbastellus* in Poland and the climate change-are current monitoring schemes still reliable for cryophilic bat species? *PLoS One* 15(2), e0227912.
- GUREVITCH, J., KORICHEVA, J., NAKAGAWA, S. & STEWART, G. (2018). Metaanalysis and the science of research synthesis. *Nature* 555(7695), 175–182.

- \*HAEST, B., STEPANIAN, P. M., WAINWRIGHT, C. E., LIECHTI, F. & BAUER, S. (2021). Climatic drivers of (changes in) bat migration phenology at Bracken Cave (USA). *Global Change Biology* 27(4), 768–780.
- \*HALL, L. K., LAMBERT, C. T., LARSEN, R. T., KNIGHT, R. N. & MCMILLAN, B. R. (2016). Will climate change leave some desert bat species thirstier than others? *Biological Conservation* **201**, 284–292.
- \*HAYES, M. A. & ADAMS, R. A. (2017). Simulated bat populations erode when exposed to climate change projections for western North America. *PLoS One* 12(7), e0180693.
- HOFFMANN, A. A. & SGRÒ, C. M. (2011). Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. Nature 470(7335), 479–485.
- HOHENLOHE, P. A., FUNK, W. C. & RAJORA, O. P. (2021). Population genomics for wildlife conservation and management. *Molecular Ecology* **30**(1), 62–82.
- \*HUGHES, A. C., SATASOOK, C., BATES, P. J., BUMRUNGSRI, S. & JONES, G. (2012). The projected effects of climatic and vegetation changes on the distribution and diversity of Southeast Asian bats. *Global Change Biology* 18(6), 1854–1865.
- \*HUMPHRIES, M. M., THOMAS, D. W. & SPEAKMAN, J. R. (2002). Climate-mediated energetic constraints on the distribution of hibernating mammals. *Nature* 418(6895), 313–316.
- IUCN (2022). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2022-1. Electronic file available at https://www.iucnredlist.org. Accessed on 31.7.2022.
- \*JONES, G., BARLOW, K., RANSOME, R. D. & GILMOUR, L. (2015). Greater horseshoe bats and their insect prey: the impact and importance of climate change and agrienvironment schemes. Final Report to PTES. Electronic file available at http:// ptes.org. Accessed on 31.8.2020.
- JONES, G., JACOBS, D. S., KUNZ, T. H., WILLIG, M. R. & RACEY, P. A. (2009). Carpe noctem: the importance of bats as bioindicators. *Endangered Species Research* 8(1-2), 93–115.
- \*JONES, G. & REBELO, H. (2013). Responses of bats to climate change: learning from the past and predicting the future. In *Bat Evolution, Ecology, and Conservation*, pp. 457– 478. Springer, New York.
- KAYSER, C. (1953). L'hibernation des mammiferes. Annales de Biologie 29, 109-150.
- KORINE, C., ADAMS, R., RUSSO, D., FISHER-PHELPS, M. & JACOBS, D. (2016). Bats and water: anthropogenic alterations threaten global bat populations. In *Bats in the Anthropocene: Conservation of Bats in a Changing World*, pp. 215–241. Springer, Cham.
- KRAUEL, J. J. & MCCRACKEN, G. F. (2013). Recent advances in bat migration research. In Bat Evolution, Ecology, and Conservation, pp. 293–313. Springer, New York.
- \*KRAVCHENKO, K. A., VLASCHENKO, A. S., LEHENERT, L. S., COURTIOL, A. & VOIGHT, C. C. (2020). Generational shift in the migratory common noctule bat: first-year males lead the way to hibernacula at higher latitudes. *Biology Letters* 16(9), 20200351.
- KUNZ, T. H., BRAUN DE TORREZ, E., BAUER, D., LOBOVA, T. & FLEMING, T. H. (2011). Ecosystem services provided by bats. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1223(1), 1–38.
- \*LAMBERT, C. T., HALL, L. K., LARSEN, R. T., KNIGHT, R. N. & MCMILLAN, B. R. (2018). Temporal partitioning and the effects of climate change on two ecologically similar desert bats. *Journal of Mammalogy* **99**(6), 1486–1494.
- LANE, J. E., KRUUK, L. E. B., CHARMANTIER, A., MURIE, J. O. & DOBSON, F. S. (2012). Delayed phenology and reduced fitness associated with climate change in a wild hibernator. *Nature* 489, 554–557.
- \*LAW, B., DOTY, A., CHIDEL, M. & BRASSIL, T. (2018). Bat activity before and after a severe wildfire in Pilliga forests: resilience influenced by fire extent and landscape mobility? *Austral Ecology* **43**(6), 706–718.
- LECLERG, C., COURCHAMP, F. & BELLARD, C. (2018). Insular threat associations within taxa worldwide. *Scientific Reports* 8(1), 1–8.
- LENTINI, P. E., BIRD, T. J., GRIFFITHS, S. R., GODINHO, L. N. & WINTLE, B. A. (2015). A global synthesis of survival estimates for microbats. *Biology Letters* **11**(8), 20150371.
- \*LINTON, D. M. & MACDONALD, D. W. (2018). Spring weather conditions influence breeding phenology and reproductive success in sympatric bat populations. *Journal* of Animal Ecology 87(4), 1080–1090.
- \*LOEB, S. C. & WINTERS, E. A. (2013). Indiana bat summer maternity distribution: effects of current and future climates. *Ecology and Evolution* 3(1), 103–114.
- \*López-BAUCELLS, A., FLAQUER, C., MAS, M., PONS, P. & PUIG-MONTSERRAT, X. (2021). Recurring fires in Mediterranean habitats and their impact on bats. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **30**(2), 385–402.
- LÓPEZ-BAUCELLS, A., ROCHA, R. & FERNÁNDEZ-LLAMAZARES, Á. (2018). When bats go viral: negative framings in virological research imperil bat conservation. *Mammal Review* 48(1), 62–66.
- \*LUCAN, R. K., WEISER, M. & HANÁK, V. (2013). Contrasting effects of climate change on the timing of reproduction and reproductive success of a temperate insectivorous bat. *Journal of Zoology* **290**(2), 151–159.
- \*LUNDY, M., MONTGOMERY, I. & RUSS, J. (2010). Climate change-linked range expansion of Nathusius' pipistrelle bat, *Pipistrellus nathusii* (Keyserling & Blasius, 1839). *Journal of Biogeography* 37(12), 2232–2242.

- \*LUO, J., KOSELJ, K., ZSEBOK, S., SIEMERS, B. M. & GOERLITZ, H. R. (2014). Global warming alters sound transmission: differential impact on the prey detection ability of echolocating bats. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface* 11(91), 20130961.
- \*MARTIN, G., YANEZ-ARENAS, C., CHEN, C., PLOWRIGHT, R. K., WEBB, R. J. & SKERRATT, L. F. (2018). Climate change could increase the geographic extent of Hendra virus spillover risk. *EcoHealth* 15(3), 509–525.
- MCCRACKEN, G. F., BERNARD, R. F., GAMBA-RIOS, M., WOLFE, R., KRAUEL, J. J., JONES, D. N. & BROWN, V. A. (2018). Rapid range expansion of the Brazilian free-tailed bat in the southeastern United States, 2008–2016. *Journal of Mammalogy* 99(2), 312–320.
- MEMMOTT, J., CRAZE, P. G., WASER, N. M. & PRICE, M. V. (2007). Global warming and the disruption of plant–pollinator interactions. *Ecology Letters* 10(8), 710–717.
- MEYER, G. A., SENULIS, J. A. & REINARTZ, J. A. (2016). Effects of temperature and availability of insect prey on bat emergence from hibernation in spring. *Journal of Mammalogy* 97(6), 1623–1633.
- MOLLER, A. P., FIEDLER, W. & BERTHOLD, P. (eds) (2010). Effects of Climate Change on Birds. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- MONTOYA, J. M. & RAFFAELLI, D. (2010). Climate change, biotic interactions and ecosystem services. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 365, 2013–2018.
- MORENO, J. & MØLLER, A. P. (2011). Extreme climatic events in relation to global change and their impact on life histories. *Current Zoology* 57, 375–389.
- MYERS, N., MITTERMEIER, R. A., MITTERMEIER, C. G., DA FONSECA, G. A. B. & KENT, J. (2000). Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature* 403, 853–858.
- \*NAGY, J. A., BARTHOLY, J., PONGRACZ, R., PIECZKA, I., BREUER, H. & HUFNAGEL, L. (2017). Analysis of the impacts of global warming on European bat species's range area in the 21st century using regional climate model simulation. *Quarterly Journal of the Hungarian Meteorological Service* **121**(3), 285–301.
- NEATE-CLEGG, M. H., JONES, S. E., TOBIAS, J. A., NEWMARK, W. D. & SEKERCIOĞLU, Ç. H. (2021). Ecological correlates of elevational range shifts in tropical birds. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 9, 215.
- O'GRADY, J. J., REED, D. H., BROOK, B. W. & FRANKHAM, R. (2004). What are the best correlates of predicted extinction risk? *Biological Conservation* 118(4), 513–520.
- \*ORTEGA-GARCIA, S., GUEVARA, L., ARROYO-CABRALES, J., LINDIG-CISNEROS, R., MARTINEZ-MEYER, E., VEGA, E. & SCHONDUBE, J. E. (2017). The thermal niche of Neotropical nectar-feeding bats: its evolution and application to predict responses to global warming. *Ecology and Evolution* 7(17), 6691–6701.
- O'SHEA, T. J., CRYAN, P. M., HAYMAN, D. T. S., PLOWRIGHT, R. K. & STREICKER, D. G. (2016). Multiple mortality events in bats: a global review. *Mammal Review* 46, 175–190.
- PACIFICI, M., FODEN, W. B., VISCONTI, P., WATSON, J. E., BUTCHART, S. H., KOVACS, K. M. & RONDININI, C. (2015). Assessing species vulnerability to climate change. *Nature Climate Change* 5(3), 215–224.
- PAGE, M. J., MCKENZIE, J. E., BOSSUYT, P. M., BOUTRON, I., HOFFMANN, T. C., MULROW, C. D. & MOHER, D. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Systematic Reviews* 10(1), 1–11.
- \*PARRIS, K. M. & HAZELL, D. L. (2005). Biotic effects of climate change in urban environments: the case of the grey-headed flying-fox (*Pteropus poliocephalus*) in Melbourne, Australia. *Biological Conservation* **124**, 267–276.
- PAULS, S. U., NOWAK, C., BÁLINT, M. & PFENNINGER, M. (2013). The impact of global climate change on genetic diversity within populations and species. *Molecular Ecology* 22(4), 925–946.
- \*PIERSON, E. D., ELMGYIST, T., RAINEY, W. E. & COX, P. A. (1996). Effects of tropical cyclonic storms on flying fox populations on the South Pacific islands of Samoa. *Conservation Biology* 10(2), 438–451.
- \*PIKSA, K. & GUBAłA, W. J. (2021). First record of Miniopterus schreibersii (Chiroptera: Miniopteridae) in Poland—a possible range expansion? Manunal Research 66(1), 211–215.
- \*PIO, D. V., ENGLER, R., LINDER, H. P., MONADIEM, A., COTTERIL, F. P., TAYLOR, P. J. & GUISAN, A. (2014). Climate change effects on animal and plant phylogenetic diversity in southern Africa. *Global Change Biology* **20**(5), 1538–1549.
- PLARD, F., GAILLARD, J.-M., COULSON, T., HEWISON, J. M., DELORME, D., WARNANT, C. & BONENFANT, C. (2014). Mismatch between birth date and vegetation phenology slows the demography of roe deer. *PLoS Biology* **12**, e1001828.
- PRATHER, C. M., PELINI, S. L., LAWS, A., RIVEST, E., WOLTZ, M., BLOCH, C. P. & JOERN, A. (2013). Invertebrates, ecosystem services and climate change. *Biological Reviews* 88(2), 327–348.
- \*PRUVOT, M., CAPPELLE, J., FUREY, N., HUL, V., HENG, H. S., DUONG, V., DUSSART, P. & HORWOOD, P. (2019). Extreme temperature event and mass mortality of insectivorous bats. *European Journal of Wildlife Research* 65(3), 1–5.
- \*PRYDE, M. A., O'DONNELL, C. F. J. & BARKER, R. J. (2005). Factors influencing survival and long-term population viability of New Zealand long-tailed bats (*Chalinolobus tuberculatus*): implications for conservation. *Biological Conservation* 126, 175–185.

1469185x, 2023, 1, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12893 by Battelle Memorial Institute, Wiley Online Library on [1303/2023], See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/tions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

- RAMÍREZ-FRÁNCEL, L. A., GARCÍA-HERRERA, L. V., LOSADA-PRADO, S., REINOSO-FLÓREZ, G., SÁNCHEZ-HERNÁNDEZ, A., ESTRADA-VILLEGAS, S. & GUEVARA, G. (2021). Bats and their vital ecosystem services: a global review. *Integrative Zoology* 17, 2–23.
- RASMONT, P. & ISERBYT, S. (2012). The bumblebees scarcity syndrome: are heat waves leading to local extinctions of bumblebees (Hymenoptera: Apidae: Bombus)? Annales de la Société Entomologique de France 48, 275–280.
- \*RATCLIFFE, F. (1932). Notes on the fruit bats (Pteropus spp.) of Australia. The Journal of Animal Ecology 1, 32–57.
- \*RAZGOUR, O. (2015). Beyond species distribution modeling: a landscape genetics approach to investigating range shifts under future climate change. *Ecological Informatics* 30, 250–256.
- \*RAZGOUR, O., FORESTER, B., TAGGART, J. B., BEKAERT, M., JUSTE, J., IBÁÑEZ, C., PUECHMAILLE, S. J., NOVELLA-FERNANDEZ, R., ALBERDI, A. & MANEL, S. (2019). Considering adaptive genetic variation in climate change vulnerability assessment reduces species range loss projections. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116(21), 10418–10423.
- \*RAZGOUR, O., JUSTE, J., IBÁÑEZ, C., KIEFER, A., REBELO, H., PUECHMAILLE, S. J., ARLETTAZ, R., BURKE, T., DAWSON, D. A., BEAUMONT, M. & JONES, G. (2013). The shaping of genetic variation in edge-of-range populations under past and future climate change. *Ecology Letters* 16(10), 1258–1266.
- RAZGOUR, O., KASSO, M., SANTOS, H. & JUSTE, J. (2021). Up in the air: threats to Afromontane biodiversity from climate change and habitat loss revealed by genetic monitoring of the Ethiopian Highlands bat. *Evolutionary Applications* 14(3), 794–806.
- \*RAZGOUR, O., TAGGART, J. B., MANEL, S., JUSTE, J., IBANEZ, C., REBELO, H., ALBERDI, A., JONES, G. & PARK, K. (2018). An integrated framework to identify wildlife populations under threat from climate change. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 18(1), 18–31.
- \*REBELO, H., TARROSO, P. & JONES, G. (2010). Predicted impact of climate change on European bats in relation to their biogeographic patterns. *Global Change Biology* 16(2), 561–576.
- REED, T. E., WAPLES, R. S., SCHINDLER, D. E., HARD, J. J. & KINNISON, M. T. (2010). Phenotypic plasticity and population viability: the importance of environmental predictability. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 277(1699), 3391–3400.
- RENNER, S. S. & ZOHNER, C. M. (2018). Climate change and phenological mismatch in trophic interactions among plants, insects, and vertebrates. *Annual Review of Ecology*, *Evolution, and Systematics* 49, 165–182.
- \*REUSCH, C., GAMPE, J., SCHEUERLEIN, A., MEIER, F., GROSCHE, L. & KERTH, G. (2019). Differences in seasonal survival suggest species-specific reactions to climate change in two sympatric bat species. *Ecology and Evolution* 9, 7957–7965.
- \*ROCHE, N., LANGTON, S., AUGHNEY, T., LYNN, D. & MARNELL, F. (2019). Elucidating the consequences of a warming climate for common bat species in north-western Europe. *Acta Chiropterologica* 21(2), 359–373.
- \*RYDELL, J., EKLOF, J., FRANSSON, H. & LIND, S. (2018). Long-term increase in hibernating bats in Swedish mines—effect of global warming? *Acta Chiropterologica* 20(2), 421–426.
- \*SACHANOWICZ, K. & CIECHANOWSKI, M. (2006). First winter record of the migratory bat *Pipistrellus nathusii* (Keyserling and Blasius 1839) (Chiroptera: Vespertilionidae) in Poland: yet more evidence of global warming? *Mammalia* 70, 168–169.
- \*SACHANOWICZ, K., CIECHANOWSKI, M., TRYJANOWSKI, P. & KOSICKI, J. Z. (2019). Wintering range of *Pipistrellus nathusii* (Chiroptera) in Central Europe: has the species extended to the north-east using urban heat islands? *Mammalia* 83(3), 260–271.
- SAINO, N., AMBROSINI, R., RUBOLINI, D., VON HARDENBERG, J., PROVENZALE, A., HÜPPOP, K. & SOKOLOV, L. (2011). Climate warming, ecological mismatch at arrival and population decline in migratory birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 278(1707), 835–842.
- \*SALINAS-RAMOS, V. B., AGNELLI, P., BOSSO, L., ANCILLOTTO, L. & RUSSO, D. (2021). Body size of Italian greater horseshoe bats (*Rhinolophus ferrumequinum*) increased over one century and a half: a response to climate change? *Mammalian Biology* **101**(6), 1127–1131.
- SALINAS-RAMOS, V. B., ANCILLOTTO, L., BOSSO, L., SÁNCHEZ-CORDERO, V. & RUSSO, D. (2020). Interspecific competition in bats: state of knowledge and research challenges. *Mammal Review* 50(1), 68–81.
- SANTINI, L., BENÍTEZ-LÓPEZ, A., MAIORANO, L., CENGIĆ, M. & HUIJBREGTS, M. A. (2021). Assessing the reliability of species distribution projections in climate change research. *Diversity and Distributions* 27(6), 1035– 1050.
- \*SCHEEL, D., VINCENT, T. L. S. & CAMERON, G. N. (1996). Global warming and the species richness of bats in Texas. *Conservation Biology* 10(2), 452–464.

SCHEFFERS, B. R., DE MEESTER, L., BRIDGE, T. C., HOFFMANN, A. A., PANDOLFI, J. M., CORLETT, R. T. & WATSON, J. E. (2016). The broad footprint of climate change from genes to biomes to people. *Science* **354**(6313), aaf7671.

Francesca Festa and others

- SCHMITTNER, A. & GALBRAITH, E. D. (2008). Glacial greenhouse-gas fluctuations controlled by ocean circulation changes. *Nature* **456**(7220), 373–376.
- SCRIDEL, D., BRAMBILLA, M., MARTIN, K., LEHIKOINEN, A., IEMMA, A., MATTEO, A., JÄHNIG, S., CAPRIO, E., BOGLIANI, G., PEDRINI, P., ROLANDO, A., ARLETTAZ, R. & CHAMBERLAIN, D. (2018). A review and metaanalysis of the effects of climate change on Holarctic mountain and upland bird populations. *Ibis* 160(3), 489–515.
- SHEPPARD, C., SHEPPARD, A. & FENNER, D. (2020). Coral mass mortalities in the Chagos Archipelago over 40 years: regional species and assemblage extinctions and indications of positive feedbacks. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 154, 111075.
- SHERWIN, H. A., MONTGOMERY, W. I. & LUNDY, M. G. (2013). The impact and implications of climate change for bats. *Mammal Review* 43(3), 171–182.
- SIMMONS, N.B. & CIRRANELLO, A.L. (2021). Bat Species of the World: a taxonomic and geographic database. Electronic file available at https://batnames.org/ Accessed on 6.12.2021.
- \*SMERALDO, S., BOSSO, L., SALINAS-RAMOS, V. B., ANCILLOTTO, L., SÁNCHEZ-CORDERO, V., GAZARYAN, S. & RUSSO, D. (2021). Generalists yet different: distributional responses to climate change may vary in opportunistic bat species sharing similar ecological traits. *Mammal Review* 51(4), 571–584.
- \*SNOYMAN, S., MUHIC, J. & BROWN, C. (2012). Nursing females are more prone to heat stress: demography matters when managing flying-foxes for climate change. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 142(1-2), 90–97.
- SOFAER, H. R., JARNEVICH, C. S., PEARSE, I. S., SMYTH, R. L., AUER, S., COOK, G. L. & HAMILTON, H. (2018). Development and delivery of species distribution models to inform decision-making. *BioScience* 69(7), 544–557.
- \*STAWSKI, C. & GEISER, F. (2012). Will temperature effects or phenotypic plasticity determine the thermal response of a heterothermic tropical bat to climate change? *PLoS One* 7(7), e40278.
- STENSETH, N. C. & MYSTERUD, A. (2002). Climate, changing phenology, and other life history traits: nonlinearity and match–mismatch to the environment. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 99(21), 13379–13381.
- \*STEPANIAN, P. M. & WAINWRIGHT, C. E. (2018). Ongoing changes in migration phenology and winter residency at Bracken Bat Cave. *Global Change Biology* 24(7), 3266–3275.
- TAFANI, M., COHAS, A., BONENFANT, C., GAILLARD, J.-M. & ALLAINÉ, D. (2013). Decreasing litter size of marmots over time: a life history response to climate change? *Ecology* 94, 580–586.
- \*TAPIA-PALACIOS, M. A., GARCIA-SUAREZ, O., SOTOMAYOR-BONILLA, J., SILVA-MAGAÑA, M. A., PEREZ-ORTIZ, G., ESPINOSA-GARCIA, A. C. & MAZARI-HIRIART, M. (2018). Abiotic and biotic changes at the basin scale in a tropical dry forest landscape after Hurricanes Jova and Patricia in Jalisco, Mexico. *Forest Ecology* and Management 426, 18–26.
- TEELING, E. C., VERNES, S. C., DÁVALOS, L. M., RAY, D. A., GILBERT, M. T. P., MYERS, E. & BAT1K CONSORTIUM (2018). Bat biology, genomes, and the Bat1K project: to generate chromosome-level genomes for all living bat species. *Annual Review of Animal Biosciences* 6, 23–46.
- \*THOMAS, C. D., HILL, J. K., ANDERSON, B. J., BAILEY, S., BEALE, C. M., BRADBURY, R. B. & YARDLEY, T. (2011). A framework for assessing threats and benefits to species responding to climate change. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 2(2), 125–142.
- THOMAS, D. W. & GEISER, F. (1997). Periodic arousals in hibernating mammals: is evaporative water loss involved? *Functional Ecology* 11(5), 585–591.
- TITLEY, M. A., SNADDON, J. L. & TURNER, E. C. (2017). Scientific research on animal biodiversity is systematically biased towards vertebrates and temperate regions. *PLoS* One 12(12), e0189577.
- \*TOMASSINI, A., COLANGELO, P., AGNELLI, P., JONES, G. & RUSSO, D. (2014). Cranial size has increased over 133 years in a common bat, *Pipistrellus kuhlii*: a response to changing climate or urbanization? *Journal of Biogeography* **41**(5), 944–953.
- UHRIN, M., HÜTTMEIR, U., KIPSON, M., ESTÓK, P., SACHANOWICZ, K., BÜCS, S. & BENDA, P. (2016). Status of Savi's pipistrelle *Hypsugo savii* (Chiroptera) and range expansion in Central and south-eastern Europe: a review. *Manual Review* 46(1), 1–16.
- UMMENHOFER, C. C. & MEEHL, G. A. (2017). Extreme weather and climate events with ecological relevance: a review. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 372, 20160135.
- URBAN, M. C. (2015). Accelerating extinction risk from climate change. Science 348(6234), 571–573.
- URBAN, M. C., BOCEDI, G., HENDRY, A. P., MIHOUB, J. B., PE'ER, G., SINGER, A. & TRAVIS, J. M. J. (2016). Improving the forecast for biodiversity under climate change. *Science* 353(6304), 1113–1122.
- VENNE, S. & CURRIE, D. J. (2021). Can habitat suitability estimated from MaxEnt predict colonizations and extinctions? *Diversity and Distributions* 27(5), 873–886.
- VISSER, M. E., HOLLEMAN, L. J. & GIENAPP, P. (2006). Shifts in caterpillar biomass phenology due to climate change and its impact on the breeding biology of an insectivorous bird. *Oecologia* 147(1), 164–172.

- WALLER, N. L., GYNTHER, I. C., FREEMAN, A. B., LAVERY, T. H. & LEUNG, L. K. P. (2017). The Bramble Cay melomys *Melonys rubicola* (Rodentia: Muridae): a first mammalian extinction caused by human-induced climate change? *Wildlife Research* 44(1), 9–21.
- WARD, M., TULLOCH, A. I., RADFORD, J. Q., WILLIAMS, B. A., RESIDE, A. E., MACDONALD, S. L. & WATSON, J. E. (2020). Impact of 2019–2020 mega-fires on Australian fauna habitat. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 4(10), 1321–1326.
- WARREN, R., PRICE, J., GRAHAM, E., FORSTENHAEUSLER, N. & VANDERWAL, J. (2018). The projected effect on insects, vertebrates, and plants of limiting global warming to 1.5 C rather than 2 C. *Science* **360**, 791–795.
- \*WELBERGEN, J. A. (2012). The impacts of extreme events on biodiversity–lessons from dic-offs in flying-foxes. In *Proceedings of the International Symposium on the Importance of Bats as Bioindicators*. Granollers, Barcelona.
- \*WELBERGEN, J. A., KLOSE, S. M., MARKUS, N. & EBBY, P. (2008). Climate change and the effects of temperature extremes on Australian flying-foxes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 275, 419–425.
- WELCH, J. N. & LEPPANEN, C. (2017). The threat of invasive species to bats: a review. Mammal Review 47(4), 277–290.
- \*WHEELER, B. H. (2012). Modeling range shifts for North American bats under climate change. North American bat ranges and climate change. Dissertation Project: University of Berkley.
- WIGLEY, T. M. (2009). The effect of changing climate on the frequency of absolute extreme events. *Climatic Change* 97(1), 67–76.WINTER, M., FIEDLER, W., HOCHACHKA, W. M., KOEHNCKE, A., MEIRI, S. & DE LA
- RIVA, I. (2016). Patterns and biases in climate change research on amphibians and reptiles: a systematic review. *Royal Society Open Science* 3(9), 160158.
- \*WOLFF, J. M., BATTAGLIA, L., CARTER, T. C., RODMAN, L. B., BRITZKE, E. R. & FELDHAMER, G. A. (2009). Effects of tornado disturbance on bat communities in southern Illinois. *Northeastern Naturalist* 16(4), 553–562.

WOLKOVICH, E. M., COOK, B. I., MCLAUCHLAN, K. K. & DAVIES, T. J. (2014). Temporal ecology in the Anthropocene. *Ecology Letters* 17(11), 1365–1379.
\*WU, J. (2016). Detection and attribution of the effects of climate change on bat distributions over the last 50 years. *Climatic Change* 134(4), 681–696.

#### VIII. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

**Fig. S1.** Distribution of study duration (in years) extracted from studies (N = 46) about bats and climate change, after excluding modelling and palaeoclimatic works.

**Table S1.** List of the variables extracted from each paper analysed, with name and description.

**Table S2.** List of studies that met our inclusion criteria.

**Table S3.** List of studies excluded from analysis, with reasons for exclusion.

**Table S4.** List of bat species for which evidence regarding the impact of climate change was reported in the literature.

(Received 31 March 2022; revised 27 July 2022; accepted 1 August 2022; published online 21 August 2022)